CLOSING THE GENDER GAP: A SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Willetta Waisath Nicholas Perry Isabel Latz Amy Raub Aleta Sprague Tina-Marie Assi Jody Heymann

About the WORLD Policy Analysis Center

The goal of the WORLD Policy Analysis Center (WORLD) is to improve the quantity and quality of comparative data available to policymakers, citizens, civil society, and researchers around the world on policies affecting equity, development, human health, and well-being. Under the leadership of Jody Heymann, WORLD is committed to making its broad, globally comparative findings publicly accessible to inform and encourage improvements in legal and policy frameworks worldwide, allow nations to learn from the approaches taken in other countries, facilitate studies of the feasibility and effectiveness of laws and policies in critical areas, and support global and local civil society in their efforts to hold decision-makers accountable.

About This Report

It has been 20 years since the international community committed to advancing equality for women around the world through the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action in 1995. Using our global datasets capturing the legal and policy contexts shaping gender rights worldwide, we have created a series of policy briefs that highlight areas of progress and areas needing further improvement in education, constitutional rights, work and family, and child marriage. In this brief, we provide a summary overview of countries' progress toward embedding the principles of the Beijing Declaration in national laws and policies across these policy areas. We then lay out three recommendations for action for promoting gender equality through legal reforms. WORLD is committed to making a lasting difference on the ground through interactions among researchers, policymakers and other stakeholders invested in translating evidence into practice.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to our partners at the Maternal and Child Health Equity (MACHEquity) research program at McGill University, who worked with us to develop longitudinal data in the following areas: child marriage, breastfeeding breaks, minimum wage, and maternal leave. This work was made possible through the support of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, in partnership with the Bill, Hillary & Chelsea Clinton Foundation's No Ceilings Initiative, as well as the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation.

© 2014 WORLD Policy Analysis Center All rights reserved.

WORLD Policy Analysis Center
UCLA Fielding School of Public Health
650 Charles E. Young Drive South, 16-059 CHS
Los Angeles, CA 90095-1772
worldpolicyforum.org

CONTENTS

Background	4
Where does the world stand?	4
Women's and Girls' Constitutional Rights	4
Access to Quality Education	6
Legal Protections Against Child Marriage	6
Women's Economic Opportunity	7
Policies that Promote Equality and Health at Work and Home	8
Recommendations for Action	9
Change Laws that Reinforce Gender Inequality by Treating Women and Girls Differently from Men and Boys	
Remove Legal Loopholes that Leave Women and Girls Unprotected	9
Address Legal and Policy Shortcomings that Matter to Women and Girls	.10
Fulfilling the promise of gender equality	.11

BACKGROUND

The importance of achieving gender equality extends beyond the lives of individual women and girls. The extent of women's social and economic equality is widely considered a critical factor in both population health and nations' economic well-being. However, despite the health, economic, and ethical motivations for achieving gender equality, women and girls continue to have access to fewer opportunities than men and boys around the world. Closing the gender gap remains one of our greatest challenges.

The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), adopted by the UN in 1979, established a foundation for action towards gender equality and has since been ratified by 186 countries. In 1995, the international community took another important step forward by introducing the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action at the Fourth World Conference on Women. The Beijing Platform was adopted by 189 countries, and still serves as a defining framework for women's and girls' full participation in every dimension of life. Yet the impact of these agreements relies on states embedding their principles within domestic laws and policies. The 20th anniversary of the Beijing Platform provides a crucial opportunity to examine whether countries have taken the necessary steps to improve women's and girls' lives.

The WORLD Policy Analysis Center (WORLD) and Maternal and Child Health Equity (MACHEquity) have systematically analyzed the rights, laws, and policies in place in 197 U.S.-recognized countries and 186 CEDAW-ratifying countries³ to create globally comparative databases in key areas relevant to gender equality including: women's and girls' rights in constitutions, access to quality education, legal protections against child marriage, economic opportunity, and labor policies that promote equality and health at work and home. This summary presents some of the key findings and policy recommendations from the accompanying series of briefs and discusses the role of quantitative indicators of law and policy in monitoring countries' progress towards full gender equality.

WHERE DOES THE WORLD STAND?

Establishing equal rights in constitutions, laws, and policies is a first step toward improving outcomes for women and girls. Laws and policies lead to change by shaping public attitudes, encouraging government follow-through with regulation and implementation, and enabling the public to hold governments accountable through court action. Constitutional rights can provide a foundation for challenging discriminatory legislation or introducing new laws that protect equality. Since the Beijing Platform, many countries have advanced gender equality broadly and in specific areas by enacting important constitutional and legal protections.

WOMEN'S AND GIRLS' CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

Examples from around the world demonstrate the potential of leveraging constitutions to promote equal rights for women. In Afghanistan, civil society activists employed constitutional protections of gender equality to successfully challenge provisions in the Shiite Personal Status Law that would restrict women's ability to leave the house without their husbands' permission and mandate that women have sex with their husbands upon their request. Similarly, a female plaintiff in Nigeria cited a non-discrimination clause in Nigeria's constitution to successfully oppose a custom that denied inheritance rights to women. In Botswana, South Africa, and

Zimbabwe, constitutional prohibitions against gender discrimination helped invalidate regulations that banned pregnant students from attending school.⁶

To date, the vast majority of national constitutions include broad protections of women's equal rights. Specifically, 84% of constitutions prohibit discrimination on the basis of gender and/or guarantee at least one of the following: women's right to equality, right to equality before the law, or equal enjoyment of rights. However, 6% allow customary or religious law to supersede some or all constitutional provisions of equal rights. Remaining constitutions either guarantee equal rights to citizens without addressing gender (10%) or do not mention any approach to equality (5%).⁷

Yet constitutions vary significantly in the extent to which they protect girls' and women's rights in specific areas. Girls' right to equality in education and right to free primary education are protected in the majority of current constitutions (60% and 54%, respectively). However, only 22% of constitutions guarantee the right to free secondary education, reflecting a critical gap in provisions that support girls' access to secondary school. Fewer than half the world's constitutions take any approach to guaranteeing women's and girls' right to health (44%), while constitutional protections for women and girls' specific rights to medical care and public health are even less common (31% and 12% respectively). Relatively few constitutions prohibit gender-based employment discrimination or protect women's right to equal pay for equal work (19% and 21% respectively). Similarly, only 28% of constitutions guarantee women's equal rights within marriage and/or in entering and exiting marriage.⁸

By contrast, a significant share of constitutions protects women's access to the political process. Expanding women's access to political decision-making is now recognized as central to achieving sustainable development. Evidence suggests that when women have greater voice in the public sphere, public resources are more likely to be allocated towards human development priorities. Female political leaders do seem more likely to represent the needs of women, and often prioritize investment in child health, nutrition, and access to employment. Most constitutions include relevant provisions to guarantee women's access to fundamental political rights, including the right to vote (79%), right to hold legislative office (76%) and right of association (56%).

While the extent to which constitutions guarantee equal rights for women and girls varies for different areas, progress since Beijing is almost universal. Specifically, the 56 constitutions that were adopted after 1995 more commonly include guarantees of women's general equality in rights without exceptions relative to the 141 constitutions that were adopted in 1995 or earlier (91% vs 73%). For example, Ecuador's constitution of 2010 strengthened protections for women's equal rights by stating: "All persons are equal and shall enjoy the same rights, duties and opportunities. No one shall be discriminated against for reasons of (...) sex. (...) The State shall draw up and implement policies to achieve equality between women and men, through the specialized mechanism set up by law." 13

Similarly, constitutions that were adopted after Beijing exhibit greater levels of protection of individual rights in education, health, work and political rights relative to previously adopted constitutions. However, progress in two areas has been slower. Only 23% of constitutions that were adopted since 1995 guarantee women's right to equal pay for equal work, relative to 20% of previously adopted constitutions. Likewise, only 29% of post-Beijing constitutions protect women's equality in rights to enter and exit and/or within marriage, compared to 28% of constitutions that were adopted before or in 1995.¹⁴

ACCESS TO QUALITY EDUCATION

Access to education is critical for girls' and women's opportunities globally. While many factors determine girls' access to education, evidence shows that cost is a significant barrier, and eliminating tuition fees allows more children, especially girls, to enroll. Mauritius, for example, is one of two countries in East Africa to have achieved gender parity in secondary school enrollments with high enrollment rates for girls. In 2005, Mauritius strengthened its education laws to guarantee all education would be free and that education would be compulsory until age 16. Girls' enrollment in education has increased by more than 10% since before the law was changed. Like Mauritius, the vast majority of countries have ensured that basic education is financially accessible: 89% of low-income countries, 97% of middle-income countries, and 100% of high-income countries have made primary education tuition-free. ¹⁵

Yet far fewer countries have extended the same policy to secondary education. Although completion of secondary education is often a minimum requirement for jobs that provide a decent income, 24% of countries impose tuition barriers before the end of secondary school. Only 17% of countries provide tuition-free and compulsory education through the completion of secondary school. Many countries that still charge tuition in secondary can afford to do more. Among those countries with available expenditures data, 43% that charge tuition before the completion of secondary education spend less than four percent of their GDP on education. With appropriate investments, making secondary education tuition-free and compulsory is feasible across regions and income groups. For example, the Kenyan government spends the most on education as a proportion of GDP in east Africa, makes education compulsory for 12 years, and has a higher minimum age for full-time employment than its neighbors. It is noteworthy that gross enrollment ratios for girls in secondary education in Kenya are nearly double those in neighboring Uganda and Tanzania.¹⁷

Finally, although access to tuition-free and compulsory education at the primary and secondary level is fundamental to girls' opportunities, the quality of instruction is a critical determinant of how much students learn. According to UNESCO's review of the evidence, a majority of studies conducted in low- and middle-income countries found that teacher training had a significant effect on student performance. While 54% of countries require teachers to have completed at least a bachelor's degree to teach at the primary level, 7% of countries only require primary-school teachers to have completed lower-secondary. At the upper-secondary level, a troubling 16% of countries only require teachers to have completed secondary school, or secondary school and some teacher training. As a result, some teachers have little to no more education than the students they are instructing.

LEGAL PROTECTIONS AGAINST CHILD MARRIAGE

Child marriage threatens girls' ability to complete an education and puts them at greater risk of violence and poor health. Early marriage commonly leads to early childbirth, which is more likely to result in preterm delivery, low birth weight, stillbirths, and threatens the survival of infants and mothers.²⁰ Babies born to teenagers are twice as likely to die as babies born to women in their twenties,²¹ and global data also indicate that morbidity and mortality rates for children under five are higher for those born to young mothers.²²

Child marriage continues to shape the lives of millions of children around the world. While the percentage of countries that allow girls to be married before age 18 fell from 24% to 12% among 105 low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) from 1995 to 2013, legal loopholes persist.²³

Girls under 18 could legally be married with their parents' consent in 52% of 194 countries as of 2013. Since most child marriages occur with parental permission and involvement, these exceptions seriously undermine the protections established by law. Additionally, civil law exists alongside parallel customary and religious systems in many countries. These parallel laws often do not establish an adequate minimum age for marriage, or any at all, weakening civil law prohibitions and exposing girls in particular religious and ethnic communities to early marriage. Nineteen percent of countries allow marriage of girls below age 18 under exceptions for customary and religious law. Of the 11 countries with the highest rates of married women between age 15 and 19, over half (6 countries) permit the marriage of children below 18 with parental consent. Child marriage is permitted under customary or religious law in at least 4 of these 11 countries. ²⁴

Finally, in many countries, legal disparities in the minimum age of marriage between boys and girls reinforce gender inequality in childhood and beyond. In 31% of countries, girls are legally allowed to be married at younger ages than boys with parental permission; in some countries, the gap can be as wide as four years. ²⁵ Establishing a universal minimum age of 18—the standard recognized by the international community—can help shape norms and practices. For example, between 1995 and 2009, Maldives experienced a dramatic drop in the rates at which girls between 15 and 19 were married, from 46.9% to 5.6%, respectively. ²⁶ Maldives had no written marriage law in place prior to the passage of the Family Act in 2001, which set the legal minimum age of marriage at 18.

WOMEN'S ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

The global burden of poverty disproportionately impacts women.²⁷ Yet with the right tools, women also have perhaps the greatest untapped potential to spur economic prosperity. When women have access to financial resources, or own assets in societies where husbands traditionally control household resources, expenditures on children are higher and their health and educational attainment improves.²⁸ Furthermore, the positive effects of women's economic opportunities extend beyond the household and contribute to economic growth at the national level.²⁹ For example, a study from the World Bank found that increasing the share of women with secondary education by one percentage point is associated with an increase of 0.3 percentage points in per capita income growth.³⁰

Minimum wage policies have long been recognized as a means to lift workers out of poverty, and have also been shown to improve women's incomes and close gender pay gaps. ³¹ Evidence suggests that minimum wages are particularly important in LMICs where a large share of workers depends on the minimum wage. ³² However, 14% of LMICs have not enacted a minimum wage, and an additional 9% of LMICs set minimum wages at less than \$2/day for a working adult and a dependent child—placing them below the international poverty line. To protect earnings over time, minimum wages must adjust to changing price levels, yet 55% of LMICs report minimum wage growth rates that did not keep up with growth in real GDP per capita between 1999 and 2013. ³³

Beyond income, women need opportunities to build assets. Intergenerational transfers of wealth and capital investments have far reaching effects on women's and girls' long-term socioeconomic outcomes. Research shows that women who have secure access to, ownership and control over land and other assets are less vulnerable to violent relationships and poverty, and better able to improve their own lives and those of their children. However, the World Bank's Women, Business and the Law data indicate that 17% of countries do not have equal inheritance rights for daughters and sons, nor do they have equal inheritance rights for male and female surviving spouses. Further, these data reveal that 9% of countries restrict married

women's abilities to sign a contract, register a business, open a bank account, and/or own property. ³⁵ These legislative restrictions on economic opportunities still leave women severely disadvantaged in too many countries.

POLICIES THAT PROMOTE EQUALITY AND HEALTH AT WORK AND HOME

In recent decades, a wide range of countries have enacted or modified national laws to enable women to balance work and family responsibilities. Global findings show that paid maternal and parental leave significantly reduce infant and child mortality,³⁶ and longer durations of paid maternal leave are associated with higher childhood vaccination rates.³⁷ Global availability and quality of maternal leave has increased since the adoption of the Beijing Platform: 30% of countries increased the duration of leave, 11% increased their wage replacement rates, and 4% newly enacted a paid maternal leave policy. As a result, today, 95% of countries provide paid leave for mothers after childbirth either through mother-specific or gender-neutral leave.³⁸

Within this 95%, specific choices about duration and wage replacement rates can have a considerable impact on the benefits for mothers and their children. When wage replacement rates are high during paid leave, more mothers can afford to take it. Since Beijing, countries have made progress in meeting the International Labour Organization (ILO) standard of fourteen weeks of maternity leave with payment of at least two-thirds of workers' wages.³⁹ For the countries for which data are available from 1995 to 2014, 53% guaranteed the ILO standard of 14 weeks in 2014, compared to 41% in 1995, and 85% provided wage replacement at the ILO standard of at least 2/3 wages in 2014, compared to 77% in 1995.⁴⁰

Meanwhile, the duration of paid leave has significant implications for whether mothers can afford to breastfeed exclusively for the full six months recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO). Breastfeeding is widely recognized as the single most effective approach to improving infant health, lowering infant mortality 1.5- to 5-fold. Women who breastfeed also have more rapid post-partum weight loss, increased birth spacing with accompanying lower maternal morbidity and mortality risks, lower rates of pre-menopausal breast cancer, and may have lower risks of ovarian cancer, osteoporosis, and coronary heart disease.

Yet even with some paid leave available, many mothers will have to return to work before their child is six months old. A second policy that can support consistent breastfeeding is the provision of breastfeeding breaks at work. While the share of countries providing breastfeeding (paid or unpaid) breaks for at least six months has increased from 62% to 71% since 1995, 26% of countries still provide neither paid leave nor paid breastfeeding breaks for a full six months—ultimately forcing many women to choose between working and breastfeeding their child.⁴⁴

Supporting women's ability to work and advancing gender equality also requires opportunities for men to assume more caregiving responsibilities. This is a critical area where the world falls short. While paid leave for new mothers is nearly universal, 51% of countries do not provide paid leave that is available to new fathers. When countries do provide leave to fathers, it is for far shorter duration—specifically, 49% of the countries that do provide fathers access to paid leave offer fewer than three weeks.⁴⁵

Finally, there are also large gaps in policies to support caregiving needs beyond infancy for mothers and fathers. Even after children are attending school, common illnesses require time away from school to recover and chronic conditions often require treatment. Additionally, elderly men and women often rely on their adult daughters and sons to care for them when they are ill. Both men and women need access to time off to tend to their family members' health needs in

order to ensure that this does not remain a responsibility disproportionately borne by women. When leave is unavailable, it is women who more often risk job or income loss to provide care, but 60% of countries fail to provide working men and women leave to care for either adult family members or children's health needs.⁴⁶

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION

Across rights, laws, and policies relevant to gender equality, there are common strategies that countries can employ to advance opportunities for girls and women. In order to fulfill the promise of gender equality, countries must enact legislation that provides equal opportunities for women and men, expand legal protections in areas that matter to women and girls, and remove exceptions in laws that disadvantage women and girls.

CHANGE LAWS THAT REINFORCE GENDER INEQUALITY BY TREATING WOMEN AND GIRLS DIFFERENTLY FROM MEN AND BOYS

In too many countries, legal frameworks still reinforce, rather than combat, gender inequality. One critical area of concern is gender disparities in the minimum age of marriage. Countries must ensure that legislation treats girls and boys equitably by no longer permitting the marriage of girls at younger ages than boys and by raising the minimum age of marriage for girls to 18.

Explicit gender disparities also exist in labor policy. As more women work outside the home, and as men continue to do so, enabling all parents to balance paid work and caregiving is more important than ever. However, many countries' laws and policies still neither provide adequate leave for caregiving nor encourage or facilitate an equal role for men in caregiving. Although all but nine countries provide paid leave for new mothers, more than half of countries still do not provide paid leave to new fathers. Similarly, some countries only provide access to leave to care for family members' health or education needs to women. To support equal opportunities both at home and at work, countries should ensure that both parents have equal access to leave to meet the health and educational needs of their children and adult family members.

Finally, women still face more explicit legislative barriers to economic opportunity that men do not. To support women's autonomy, safety, and ability to invest in their children, countries need to change laws to ensure women's access to equal inheritance rights and remove legal barriers that prevent women from signing contracts, registering businesses, opening bank accounts, and owning property.

REMOVE LEGAL LOOPHOLES THAT LEAVE WOMEN AND GIRLS UNPROTECTED

Legal reforms to advance women's and girls' equal opportunities are not enough if loopholes remain that undermine these legal protections. As noted, in 6% of countries, customary or religious law is legally allowed to supersede constitutional protections, potentially jeopardizing provisions that ensure gender equality. Provisions permitting these exceptions are almost equally common in constitutions adopted before and after the Beijing Platform. ⁴⁸ Countries can eliminate this risk to gender equality by ensuring that constitutional equal rights consistently take legal precedence.

Similarly, while the percentage of countries that generally allow the marriage of girls before age 18 has fallen over the years, many countries still permit girls to be legally married at younger

ages with parental permission or under customary or religious law. Today, 20% of countries allow marriage of girls below age 18 under exceptions for customary and religious law, and 52% of countries allow marriage of girls below age 18 with parental consent.⁴⁹

ADDRESS LEGAL AND POLICY SHORTCOMINGS THAT MATTER TO WOMEN AND GIRLS

Despite significant progress in securing fundamental rights and equal opportunities for women and girls, critical gaps remain in many areas. While fundamental constitutional protections reflect increasing recognition of women's overall equality, the explicit enumeration of rights in different spheres of life is lacking. Protections lag in areas of economic and social rights, such as work and family life. More than two-thirds of constitutions do not mention the right to equal pay for equal work, and nearly three-quarters are silent on women's right to equality in marriage. When nations expand constitutional protections of women's fundamental rights across multiple dimensions, they provide grounds for legal or other actions to promote gender equality.

Many countries also still have far to go in achieving gender equality in education. While the world is close to achieving universal access and gender parity in primary enrollment, too little attention has been devoted to secondary education, where enrollment gaps persist between girls and boys. Barriers to completing a secondary education disproportionately affect girls' earning potential later in life. Secondary education can be made accessible even in challenging contexts; despite a history of conflict, Sri Lanka has made education tuition-free from primary through university, one of only two countries in South Asia to do so. These policies are reflected in the outcomes of the country's children: primary enrollment and completion are close to 100%, over 90% of students progress to secondary school, there is gender parity in both primary and secondary enrollment, and enrollment in higher education is rapidly increasing. Ensuring that school is tuition-free and compulsory through secondary is a crucial step for countries to take to advance the opportunities of girls and low-income children.

Increasing the number of women exiting poverty also requires access to jobs that provide for an adequate standard of living. As women are more likely than men to work in low-wage jobs, ⁵¹ minimum wage policy is a powerful tool to provide working women and their families with access to fair income and essential resources. Although most LMICs have adopted minimum wage policies, many set the minimum wage below the international poverty line of \$2 per person per day for a working adult and a dependent child. ⁵² To provide women and their families with access to adequate income, countries need to set minimum wages at levels sufficient to cover the cost of basic needs, and ensure that minimum wage levels keep up with the cost of living over time.

Polices that support women and men succeeding at both work and caregiving are fundamental to equal economic opportunities. While providing paid leave for new mothers is the norm around the world, provisions for fathers lag far behind.⁵³ To further gender equality at home and at work, countries need to make paid leave available equally to both new mothers and fathers.

Additionally, to ensure that women do not have to risk their jobs or income to provide care to child and adult family members, countries need to eliminate gaps in policies supporting caregiving needs beyond infancy.⁵⁴ Strengthening existing leave policies and promoting broader coverage of leave policies by targeting the informal sector and other marginalized workers are critical to the promotion of gender equality at home and in the workplace.

FULFILLING THE PROMISE OF GENDER EQUALITY

Despite notable progress in the two decades since the Beijing Platform, significant barriers to global gender equality persist. Too many girls still face early marriage or barriers to post-primary education. Too many women lack the economic resources that could lift them from poverty, protect them from violence, and safeguard their own and their children's health. Too much human capital is not yet being employed in crafting solutions to the twenty-first century's most pressing problems. These persistent inequalities greatly compromise the potential of girls, boys, women, and men everywhere.

To guarantee every woman and girl access to the rights and opportunities outlined in CEDAW and the Beijing Platform, countries must take steps on a national level. Identifying what steps to take begins by evaluating progress, gaps, and feasible policy options. The official report-based monitoring mechanism for international commitments like CEDAW offers a wealth of qualitative information. However, a complementary tool providing frequently updated, easily-analyzable indicators of law and policy could have a unique and critical impact. This type of data allows cross-country comparisons to inform policymakers, and provides researchers with a means to investigate links between policy choices and outcome indicators. Increased transparency and accessibility to information about legislation and social policies can also serve as an empowering tool for civil society.

The WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity have collected and analyzed constitutions, primary legislative texts, international reports, and other sources to create such quantitative indicators of law and policy. Throughout this summary we've drawn on this new data set to demonstrate the feasibility and utility of this approach in assessing country action on gender equality. For detailed information and further data, please see the accompanying series of briefs⁵⁵ and publications⁵⁶ on constitutional rights, laws, and policies⁵⁸ affecting women and girls.

The 20th anniversary of the Beijing Platform is an opportunity for the international community to renew its commitment to enact laws and implement policies that advance gender equality. Deploying new tools to enhance transparency and accountability is an important way to ensure countries take the necessary steps to unleash the individual and global potential of the world's women and girls.

^{1.} UN General Assembly. (1979). Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women. Retrieved from: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/cedaw.htm.

^{2.} Beijing Declaration. (1995). *Platform for Action adopted by the UN Fourth World Conference on Women: Action for Equality, Development and Peace*. Retrieved from: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/platform/plat1.htm#statement.

^{3.} WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Are States Parties to CEDAW Living up to Their Commitments to Women and Girls? A Globally Comparative Analysis of National Action."

^{4.} Mackey, R. (August 17, 2009). *Afghan Husbands Win Right to Starve Wives*. The New York Times, August 17. http://thelede.blogs.nytimes.com/2009/08/17/afghan-husbands-win-right-to-starve-wives/?_r=0; Vogt, H. (July 13, 2009). *Afghan Activists Still Oppose Marriage Law*. Associated Press. http://www.utsandiego.com/news/2009/Jul/13/afghan-marriage-law-071309/.

^{5.} Center for Reproductive Rights. (2005). *Legal Grounds: Reproductive and Sexual Rights in African Commonwealth Courts*. Toronto: Center for Reproductive Rights and the International Programme on Reproductive and Sexual Health Law at the University of Toronto. Retrieved from:

http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/bo_legalgrounds_2005.pdf.

6. Center for Reproductive Rights. (2005). *Legal Grounds: Reproductive and Sexual Rights in African Commonwealth Courts*. Toronto: Center for Reproductive Rights and the International Programme on Reproductive and Sexual Health Law at the University of Toronto. Retrieved from:

http://reproductiverights.org/sites/default/files/documents/bo_legalgrounds_2005.pdf.

- 7. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 8. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 9. UN Women. (2014). The World Survey on the role of women in development 2014: Gender equality and sustainable development. Retrieved from: http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2014/10/world-survey-2014#view.
- 10. Duflo, E. (2012). Women Empowerment and Economic Development. *Journal of Economic Literature 50(4)*, 1051-1079; UN Women. (2014). *The World Survey on the role of women in development 2014: Gender equality and sustainable development*. Retrieved from: http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2014/10/world-survey-2014#view.
- 11. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 12. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 13. Constitution of Ecuador. 2008 (amended to 2011). Art. 11 and 70.
- 14. WORLD Policy Analysis Center. "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 15. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Global Findings on Tuition-Free and Compulsory Education."
- 16. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Global Findings on Tuition-Free and Compulsory Education."
- 17. UNESCO Institute for Statistics, (2014). *Gross Enrolment Ratio. Secondary. Both sexes. Total.* Retrieved from: http://data.uis.unesco.org/#.
- 18. UNESCO. (2005). Education for All Global Monitoring Report- The Quality Imperative. Retrieved from: http://www.unesco.org/new/en/education/themes/leading-the-international-agenda/efareport/reports/2005-quality/.
- 19. WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Global Findings on Tuition-Free and Compulsory Education."
- 20. Mathur, S., Greene, M., and Malhotra, A. (2003). Too Young to Wed: The Lives, Rights, and Health of Young Married Girls. Washington, D.C.: International Center for Research on Women; Nour, N.M. (2006). Health Consequences of Child Marriage in Africa. Emerging Infectious Diseases 12(11),1644-1649.; Sharma, V., Katz, J., Mullany, L.C., Khatry, S.K., Leclerg, S.C., Shrestha, S.R., Darmstadt, G.L. and Tielsch, J.M.(2008). Young Maternal Age and the Risk of Neonatal Mortality in Rural Nepal. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 162(9), 828-835.; Ertem, M., Saka, G., Ceylan, A., and Deger, V. (2008). The Factors Associated with Adolescent Marriages and Outcomes of Adolescent Pregnancies in Mardin Turkey. Journal of Comparative Family Studies 39(2),229-239.; Raj, A., Saggurti, N., Balaiah, D., and Silverman, G.J. (2009). Prevalence of Child Marriage and Its Effect on Fertility and Fertility-Control Outcomes of Young Women in India: A Cross-Sectional, Observational Study. Lancet 373(9678), 1883-1889; UNICEF. (2001). Early Marriage: Child Spouses. Innocenti Digest 7; Igwebe, A.O., and Udigwe, G.O. (2001). Teenage Pregnancy: Still an Obstetric Risk. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 21(5), 478-481; Banerjee, B., Pandey, G., Dutt, D., Sengupta, B., Mondal, M., Deb, S. (2009). Teenage Pregnancy: A Socially Inflicted Health Hazard. Indian Journal of Community Medicine 34(3), 227-231; Jain, S., and Kurz, K. (2007). New Insights on Preventing Child Marriage: A Global Analysis of Factors and Programs. Report prepared by the International Center for Research on Women for the United States Agency for International Development; Shawky, S., Milaat, W. (2001). Cumulative Impact of Early Maternal Marital Age during the Childbearing Period. Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology 15(1), 27-33.
- 21. Jain, S. and Kurz, K. (2007). *New Insights on Preventing Child Marriage: A Global Analysis of Factors and Programs*. Report prepared by the International Center for Research on Women for the United States Agency for International Development. Retrieved from: http://www.icrw.org/publications/new-insights-preventing-child-marriage. 22. S. Mathur, M. Greene, and A. Malhotra. (2003). *Too Young to Wed: The Lives, Rights, and Health of Young Married Girls*. Washington, D.C.: International Center for Research on Women. Retrieved from: http://www.icrw.org/files/publications/Too-Young-to-Wed-the-Lives-Rights-and-Health-of-Young-Married-Girls.pdf.
- 23. Data on change over time is taken from the Maternal Child and Health Equity (MACHEquity) Project at McGill University. For more details on methodology, please see WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Legal Protections against Child Marriage around the World."
- 24. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Legal Protections against Child Marriage around the World." 25. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Legal Protections against Child Marriage around the World."
- 26. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. "World Marriage Data 2012" (2013).
- 27. Beijing Declaration. (1995). *Platform for Action adopted by the UN Fourth World Conference on Women: Action for Equality, Development and Peace- Women and Poverty Diagnosis*. Retrieved from: http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/platform/poverty.htm.
- 28. Doss, C. (2013). Intrahousehold bargaining and resource allocation in developing countries. *The World Bank Research Observer 28(1)*, 52-78; Quimsumbign, A., and de la Briere, B. (2000). *Women's assets and intrahoushold allocation in Bangladesh: Testing measures of bargaining power.* Washington D.C.: Food Consumption and Nutrition

Division Discussion Paper No. 86. Retrieved from:

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;jsessionid=82390D592883E5C7F93904FC725C3058?doi=10.1.1.58.4 623&rep=rep1&type=pdf; Hallman, K. (2000). Mother-father resource control, marriage payments, and girl-boy health in rural Bangladesh. Washington D.C: Food Consumption and Nutrition Division Discussion Paper No. 93. Retrieved from: http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/fcndp93.pdf.

- 29. Dollar, D. and Gatti, R. (1999). *Gender inequality, income, and growth: Are good times good for women?* Washington, DC: The World Bank. Retrieved from: http://www.ccee.edu.uy/ensenian/catgenyeco/Materiales/2011-08-10%20M4%20-%20DollaryGatti%281999%29GenderInequalityIncomeAndGrowth.pdf.
- 30. Dollar, D. and Gatti, R. (1999). *Gender inequality, income, and growth: Are good times good for women?* Washington, DC: The World Bank. Retrieved from: http://www.ccee.edu.uy/ensenian/catgenyeco/Materiales/2011-08-10%20M4%20-%20DollaryGatti%281999%29GenderInequalityIncomeAndGrowth.pdf.
- 31. Robinson, H. (2005). Regional evidence on the effect of the national minimum wage on the gender pay gap. *Regional Studies [serial online]; 39(7)*, 855-872; Grimshaw, D. and Miozzo, M. (2003). Minimum wages and pay equity in Latin America. Geneva: International Labour Office. Retrieved from:
- http://www.ilo.int/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---declaration/documents/publication/wcms_decl_wp_14_en.pdf 32. Cunningham, W. (2007). *Minimum Wages and Social Policy: Lessons from Developing Countries*. The World Bank. Retrieved from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/6760.
- 33. For further details on methodology, and the number of LMICs for which complete data was available, please see WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Minimum Wage Policies to Support Women and their Families in 121 Low- and Middle-Income Countries."
- 34. Report of the UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women. (2005). *Integration of the Human Rights of Women and the Gender Perspective- Violence against Women.* Presented to the UN Economic and Social Council Commission on Human Rights at the Sixty-first session. Retrieved from:
- http://www.refworld.org/docid/43f305e40.html; Strickland, R.S. (2004). To have and to hold: Women's property and inheritance rights in the context of HIV/AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa. International Center for Research on Women (ICRW) Working Paper. Retrieved from: http://www.icrw.org/files/publications/To-Have-and-To-Hold-Womens-Property-and-Inheritance-Rights-in-the-Context-of-HIV-AIDS-in-Sub-Saharan-Africa.pdf.
- 35. Areas where WORLD and MACHEquity did not have data have been supplemented with information available from the World Bank's database on Women, Business, and the Law (WBL). The coding of these data represents the analysis of the World Bank, and has not been independently verified.
- 36. Heymann, J. Raub, A., & Earle, A. (2011). Creating and using new data sources to analyze the relationship between social policy and global health: The case of maternal leave. *Public Health Reports* 126(3), 127-134.
- 37. Daku, M., Raub, A., Heymann, J. (2012). Maternal leave policies and vaccination coverage: A global analysis. *Social Science and Medicine 74* (2), 120-124.
- 38. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 39. International Labour Organization. (2000). Maternity Protection Convention (No. 183).
- 40. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 41. Jones, G., Steketee, R.W., Black, R.E., Bhutta, Z.A., Morris, S.S., and the Bellagio Child Survival Study Group. (2002). How many child deaths can we prevent this year? *The Lancet 362(93777)*, 65-71; World Health Organization, Department of Nutrition for Health and Development & Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development. (2001). The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: Report of an expert consultation. Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/optimal duration of exc bfeeding report eng.pdf.
- 42. Jones, G., Steketee, R.W., Black, R.E., Bhutta, Z.A., Morris, S.S., and the Bellagio Child Survival Study Group. (2002). How many child deaths can we prevent this year? *The Lancet 362(93777)*, 65-71; World Health Organization, Department of Nutrition for Health and Development & Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development. (2001). The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: Report of an expert consultation. Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/optimal_duration_of_exc_bfeeding_report_eng.pdf
- 43. Schwarz EB, Ray RM, Stuebe AM, Allison MA, Ness RB, Freiberg MS, Cauley JA. (2009). Duration of lactation and risk factors for maternal cardiovascular disease. *Obstet Gynecol 113*, 974-82; Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, et al. (April 2007). *Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Prepared for the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- 44. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Global Findings on Breastfeeding Breaks at Work."
- 45. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 46. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 47. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."

- 48. WORLD Policy Analysis Center. "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions."
- 49. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Legal Protections against Child Marriage around the World." 50. World Bank. (2014). *Gross enrolment ratio*. Secondary. Total. Retrieved from: http://data.worldbank.org/; World
- Bank. (2014). Gross enrolment ratio. Tertiary. Total. Retrieved from: http://data.worldbank.org/.
- 51. Rubery, J. and Grimshaw, D. (2009). *Gender and the minimum wage*. Paper Prepared for the ILO Conference 'Regulating for Decent Work', Geneva. Retrieved from:
- http://www.ilo.org/legacy/english/protection/travail/pdf/rdwpaper33a.pdf.
- 52. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Minimum Wage Policies to Support Women and their Families in 121 Low- and Middle-Income Countries."
- 53. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 54. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries."
- 55. WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Labor Policies to Promote Equity at Work and at Home: Findings from 197 Countries." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Global Findings on Tuition-Free and Compulsory Education." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Equal Rights for Women and Girls in the World's Constitutions." WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Legal Protections against Child Marriage around the World." WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Global Findings on Breastfeeding Breaks at Work." WORLD Policy Analysis Center and MACHEquity, "Minimum Wage Policies to Support Women and their Families in 121 Lowand Middle-Income Countries." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, "Are States Parties to CEDAW Living up to Their Commitments to Women and Girls? A Globally Comparative Analysis of National Action."
- 56. Heymann, J., and McNeill K. (2013). *Children's chances: How countries can move from surviving to thriving.* Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press; Heymann, J. and Earle. A. (2010). *Raising the global floor: Dismantling the myth that we can't afford good working conditions for everyone*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- 57. Cassola A, Raub A, Foley D, Heymann J. (2014). Where do women stand? New evidence on the presence and absence of gender equality in the world's constitutions. *Politics & Gender 10(02)*, 200-235; Heymann J, Cassola A, Raub A, Mishra L. (2013). Constitutional rights to health, public health and medical care: The status of health protections in 191 countries. *Global Public Health 8(6)*, 639-653.
- 58. Daku M, Raub A, Heymann J. (2012). Maternal leave policies and vaccination coverage: A global analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(2), 120-124; Heymann J, Raub A, Earle A. (2013). Breastfeeding policy: A globally comparative analysis. *Bulleting of the World Health Organization 91*, 398-406; Heymann J, Raub A, Earle A. (2011). Creating and using new data sources to analyze the relationship between social policy and global health: The case of maternal leave. *Public Health Reports 126(Suppl 3)*, 127; Heymann J, McNeill K, Earle A. (2013). Filling a critical gap: Measuring work policies that affect families globally. *Community, Work & Family 16(3)*, 239-260; Statement to commemorate the twenty-fifth anniversary of the adoption of the Convention on the Elimination of All Froms of Discrimination against Women: United Nations 13 October 2004; Lahaie C, Earle A, Heymann J. (2012). An uneven burden: Social disparities in adult caregiving responsibilities, working conditions, and caregiver outcomes. *Research on Aging (X)XX*, 1-32; Atabay E, Moreno G, Nandi A, Kranz G, Vincent I, Assi T-M, et al. (Forthcoming). Facilitating working mothers' ability to breastfeed: Global trends in guaranteeing breastfeeding breaks at work, 1995-2014. *Journal of Human Lactation*.